IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 19-2082

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

TYJUAN LEVELL TUCKER, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, JUDGE LAWRENCE P. MCLELLAN

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Andy Dunn Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles Gribble Gentry Brown & Bergmann L.L.P. 2910 Grand Avenue Des Moines, Iowa 50312

Telephone: (515) 284-5737

Facsimile: (515) 284-1704

Email: adunn@parrishlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Tucker's plea of guilty was not knowing and voluntary.

Schmidt v. State, 909 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Finney, 834 N.W.2d 46 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Ortiz, 789 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Utter, 803 N.W.2d 647 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)

Wiese v. Iowa Dept. of Job Srv., 389 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 1986)

Iowa Code § 814.6

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(4)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a)

II. Tucker received ineffective assistance of counsel in entering into the plea agreement.

Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)

Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2001)

Nguyen v. State, 878 N.W.2d 744 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Dalton, 674 N.W.2d 111 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Kress, 636 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Kuhse, 937 N.W.2d 622 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Myers, 653 N.W.2d 574 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

III. Tucker's plea is not covered by Senate File 589.

Diaz v. Padilla, 896 N.W.2d 73 (Iowa 2017)

In re Chambers, 152 N.W.2d 818 (Iowa 1967)

In re Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1988)

Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Srvs., 642 N.W.2d 255 (Iowa 2002)

Schmidt v. State

Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Doe, 927 N.W.2d 656 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Keene, 630 N.W.2d 579 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Rigel, No. 16-0576, 2017 WL 936135 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 8, 2017)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Weitzel, 905 N.W.2d 397 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Woody, 613 N.W.2d 215 (Iowa 2000)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4

Iowa Const. Art. V, § 6

Iowa Code § 602.4102 (2006)

Iowa Code § 814.6 (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Regarding Issues I and II, this case involves the application of existing legal principles and can be transferred to the court of appeals. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

Regarding Issue III, Tucker appeals after he pled guilty on November 20, 2019, and was sentenced the same day. Tucker requests the Iowa Supreme Court retain this case because it presents substantial constitutional questions regarding the validity of Senate File 589's amendments to Iowa Code §§ 814.6(1) and 814.7. These arguments also raise substantial issues of first impression and fundamental issues of broad public importance that require ultimate

determination by the Iowa Supreme Court. See Iowa Rs. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(a), (c)-(d).

CASE STATEMENT

Tyjuan Levell Tucker appeals the five-year suspended sentence and three-year probation sentence, and victim restitution of \$2,750 ordered upon his guilty plea to one count of theft in the second degree, because the plea was not knowing and voluntary. Tucker only briefly discussed the plea with his attorney before entering into the agreement and did not have a full understanding of what he was pleading guilty to. He was prompted through the entire plea hearing, during which he repeatedly asked to confer with his attorney and his attorney directed him what to say. Further, he did not have the ability to review all the discovery in this case before he was coerced into giving up his right to a trial. Had he reviewed this discovery it would have impacted his decision to plead guilty. As a result, his plea was not knowing and voluntary, and it must be invalidated.

FACTS

Tucker was charged by trial information on October 18, 2019, with one count of theft in the second degree, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 714.1 and 714.2(2). (Trial Info., App. 4). According to the Minutes

of Testimony, Tucker was working as a Mediacom representative on August 6, 2019, when he was accused of stealing \$2,750 from the bedroom dresser of a house that he was working on. (Min. of Testimony, Conf. App. 4). Tucker was formally arraigned at the Polk County Jail courtroom on October 21, 2019. (Ord. Arr., App. 6). A pretrial conference was set for November 21, 2019, and a jury trial was scheduled for December 16, 2019. (Ord. Arr., App. 6).

On November 20, 2019, Tucker, his attorney Jonah Dyer, and Assistant Polk County Attorney Amanda Johnson appeared before Judge McLellan for a plea and sentencing hearing. (Tr. Plea & Sent. Hrg. Nov. 20, 2019 (hereinafter "Tr."). No written plea agreement or petition to plead guilty was filed; the only record of what the parties agreed to is the November 20, 2019 transcript.

A review of this transcript reveals several concerns that Tucker did not understand the proceedings that he was taking part in. The Court swore Tucker in, as is the usual practice for plea hearings. Tr. 6:11-16. However, shortly after the Court began its recitation, Tucker interrupted with a question:

THE COURT: Mr. Tucker, a Trial Information was filed on October 18, 2019, charging you in one count; that being theft in the second degree. My understanding is you

previously pled not guilty to that charge, but today you wish to withdraw your plea of not guilty and enter a plea of guilty; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. I have a question. Why am I being sworn in, though?

THE COURT: Because every defendant who pleads, I swear in because I want you to make these statements under oath.

THE DEFENDANT: So I got to *stretch the truth*, then, if you ask me something?

THE COURT: You have to – yeah, you have to state the truth.

THE DEFENDANT: All right.

Tr. 6:17-7:8 (emphasis added). It appears that the Court did not hear Tucker state "stretch the truth" instead and instead heard him say "state the truth." This should have been the initial indication to the Court and the parties involved that Tucker did not understand the purpose of the hearing, and that he was not prepared to plead guilty to theft second.

The hearing continued, and the issues with Tucker's understanding continued. When asked why he was pleading guilty today, Tucker responded "To get the plea that's offered. . . . To get whatever – what's offered to me." Tr. 10:10-16. The Court followed up by asking Tucker if he understood that the Court was not bound by

the plea agreement, and Tucker required an off-the-record discussion with his attorney before he could continue. Tr. 10:17-21. The plea colloquy was interrupted an additional 10 times by off-the-record conversations between Tucker and his attorney before the Court ultimately accepted Tucker's plea. Tr. 13:15, 14:13, 17:4, 17:23, 18:6, 18:13, 18:24, 19:15, 20:19, 21:1.

As the Court proceeded to sentencing, there was further evidence that Tucker did not understand the proceedings. When asked if he wanted to "waive that fifteen days and proceed to immediate sentencing," Tucker stated "[o]ne second]" and had another off-the-record conversation with his attorney. Tr. 24:19-22. The proceedings were interrupted an additional four times before judgment was pronounced. Tr. 25:18, 26:5, 16:25, 27:16.

Tucker had been detained pending his sentencing in this case.

Tr. 29:3-4. At the same time, he was dealing with DHS issues with his son. Tr. 29:24-30:1.

ARGUMENT

I. TUCKER'S GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY

A. Standard of Review and Error Preservation

Because trial counsel did not file a motion in arrest of judgment and proceeded straight to sentencing, error was not preserved regarding Tucker's involuntary guilty plea. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a). However, "failure [to file a motion in arrest of judgment] does not bar a challenge to a guilty plea if the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel." State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006) (citation omitted). As discussed in subdivision I.B., below, Tucker's guilty plea proceeding was tinged throughout by ineffective assistance of counsel. As a result, his appeal is not barred by the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment.

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2020) no longer permits appeals from a guilty plea, unless a defendant establishes good cause. This court should not apply the amendments to § 814.6 (1)(a)(3) for the reasons discussed in subdivisions III(A) and (B) below. However, regardless of

whether the amendments apply, Tucker has established good cause to appeal from his guilty plea.

"Good cause" is not defined by the statute, and the Iowa Supreme Court has not yet had occasion to construe the phrase "good cause" contained in the amendments to § 814.6(1)(a)(3). Black's Law Dictionary defines "good cause" as a "legally sufficient reason." (11th Ed. 2019). In other contexts, the Iowa Supreme Court has recognized that the definition of "good cause" is flexible, considering the circumstances and subject matter to which the term is applied:

[Good cause] is a term capable of contraction and expansion by construction; reducing it to a fixed meaning or standard is nearly impossible. The meaning of the term "good cause" must be deduced from the facts of each case keeping the stated public policy and the fundamental purpose of the statute in mind. The term encompasses real circumstances, "adequate excuses that will bear the test of reason, just grounds for the action, and always the element of good faith."

Wiese v. Iowa Dept. of Job Srv., 389 N.W.2d 676, 680 (Iowa 1986) (internal citations omitted).

If the court decides that Tucker must establish good cause for appealing his guilty plea, it should hold that an involuntary guilty plea constitutes good cause to appeal under § 814.6(1)(a)(3). By pleading guilty in a criminal case, a defendant gives up several

fundamental constitutional rights - including the right to be found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt before judgment is imposed – all to the benefit of the state. For this reason, the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and art. I, § 9 of the Iowa Constitution "require[] the trial court to determine the defendant made a knowing and intelligent choice to waive constitutional rights, including the right to a jury trial, the right to protection against self-incrimination, the right to confront witnesses, and the right to plead guilty to the underlying crime." State v. Finney, 834 N.W.2d 46, 55 (Iowa 2013). Because the rights given up in a guilty plea are so important, "[e]ven overwhelming objective evidence of guilty . . . will not save a conviction when the subjective requirements of due process have not been met." Id. (citation omitted). This court should hold that when counsel was ineffective, resulting in an involuntary guilty plea, the defendant has established good cause to appeal under Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3).

Iowa courts generally review a defendant's challenge to a guilty plea for correction of errors at law. *State v. Ortiz*, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010). However, where the guilty plea is not knowing and

voluntary because of ineffective assistance of counsel, the standard of review is de novo. *Id*.

B. Argument

"A defendant's plea of guilty is a serious act that he or she must do voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently with an awareness of the relevant circumstances and consequences." *State v. Utter*, 803 N.W.2d 647, 651 (Iowa 2011) (collecting cases), *overruled on other grounds in Schmidt v. State*, 909 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2018). By pleading guilty, a defendant gives up:

[T]he right to be tried by a jury, and at trial . . . the right to assistance of counsel, the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant, the right not to be compelled to incriminate oneself, and the right to present witnesses in the defendant's own behalf and to have compulsory process in securing their attendance.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(4). During a plea proceeding, the court must determine that the defendant understands those rights, and that he understands by pleading that "there will not be a further trial of any kind, so that by pleading guilty the defendant waives the right to a trial." *Id.* at 2.8(2)(b).

The transcript from Tucker's plea hearing raises questions as to whether he understood the rights that he was giving up by pleading

guilty, and whether he knowingly waived those rights. He stated that he was worried he would have to "stretch the truth" to plead guilty. Tr. 6:17-7:8. He repeatedly interrupted the proceedings to ask his attorney what was going on. At no point did the court, observing this behavior, stop to ensure that Tucker understood why he was in front of the court answering the court's questions.

The Iowa Supreme Court has recognized that "people plead guilty for all sorts of reasons. Many of these reasons are unrelated to whether the defendant actually committed the crime." Schmidt, 909 N.W.2d at 789. The Iowa Supreme Court has also acknowledged that refusing to hear challenges to guilty pleas would perpetuate an unjust system. Id. at 789-90 ("What kind of system of justice do we have if we permit actually innocent people to remain in prison. It is time that we refuse to perpetuate a system of justice that allows actually innocent people to remain in prison, even those who profess guilt despite their actual innocence."). Tucker's case is a prime example of a defendant pleading guilty because they are being pushed through the system by the court and their trial attorney. The court ignored or misheard Tucker's statement that he would have to stretch the truth to plead guilty. Tucker's attorney repeatedly

the proceedings. Under such circumstances, the conclusion is inescapable that Tucker pled guilty because he found himself in a court proceeding where his guilty plea was being taken. As a result, his plea was not knowing and voluntary, and the judgment against him should be reversed.

II. TUCKER RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO HIS GUILTY PLEA

A. Standard of Review and Error Preservation

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020) no longer permits claims of ineffective assistance of counsel to be decided on direct appeal. However, for the reasons discussed in Division III.C. below, this court should nevertheless hear Tucker's claim. Where a defendant brings an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal, the court must first "decide whether the appellate record is adequate to determine the claim. If not, the claim will be preserved for postconviction relief." *State v. Brothern*, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013) (citation omitted). If the record is adequate, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. *See State v. Kuhse*, 937 N.W.2d 622, 627 (Iowa 2020).

B. Argument

The U.S. and Iowa Constitutions' guarantee a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI, Iowa Const. art. I, § 10. To prove a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) that that counsel failed to perform an essential duty and (2) that prejudice resulted. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134, 141-42 (Iowa 2001) (en banc).

To prove a breach of an essential duty, a defendant "must show that counsel's performance was deficient," that is, that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. The court must consider "whether counsel's assistance reasonable considering all the was circumstances." Id. at 688; Nguyen v. State, 878 N.W.2d 744, 752 (Iowa 2016). Counsel's performance is measured "against the standard of a reasonably competent practitioner with presumption that the attorney performed his duties in a competent manner." State v. Dalton, 674 N.W.2d 111, 199 (Iowa 2004).

To prove prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable. A defendant must show the probability of a different result is sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. This standard requires us to consider the totality of the evidence, identify what factual findings would have been affected, and determine if the error was pervasive or isolated and trivial.

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 557-59 (Iowa 2015) (cleaned up).

Tucker's trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when he plowed through the plea proceeding, despite clear evidence that Tucker did not understand the proceeding and was not willing to testify under oath that he had committed the crime as charged. Tucker's trial counsel was silent when Tucker asked the judge if he had to "stretch the truth" to plead guilty. Tr. 6:17-7:8. Tucker's trial counsel did not stop the proceedings to make sure that Tucker understood what he was pleading to and what he was giving up in the context of his guilty plea, rather, he repeatedly prompted Tucker

along through the plea hearing each time Tucker interrupted the proceedings.

Trial counsel that fails to ensure that a guilty plea is knowing and voluntary fails to perform an essential duty. State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128, 134 (Iowa 2006) (counsel breached an essential duty by failing to bring to the court's attention fact that it omitted mention of the punishment defendant could face by pleading guilty during the plea colloquy, and failing to file a motion in arrest of judgment); State v. Myers, 653 N.W.2d 574 (Iowa 2002) (counsel breached an essential duty by failing to inform the defendant of the right to compulsory process); State v. Kress, 636 N.W.2d 12 (Iowa 2001) (counsel performed below range of normal competency by failing to correct court's misinformation concerning defendant's potential sentence exposure, or to file motion in arrest of judgment raising the issue). Here, Tucker's trial counsel had the information it needed to know that Tucker's plea may not be knowing and voluntary. Instead of bringing this information to the court's attention, or pausing the proceedings to advise Tucker further, outside of the court's presence, Tucker's counsel continued to push him through the guilty plea

script until it was too late to back out. Tucker's counsel then did not file a motion in arrest of judgment to challenge the plea.

To satisfy the prejudice element in the context of a guilty plea, a "defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he or she would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Myers*, 653 N.W.2d at 577 (quoting *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)). Tucker's statement during the opening minutes of his guilty plea indicate that he would in fact have preferred to go to trial. He questioned why he was being placed under oath and asked if he would have to "stretch the truth" in order to plead guilty. Tr. 6:17-7:8. Taken at his word, Tucker was stating that he was not guilty. As a result, Tucker was prejudiced by his trial counsel's pleading him guilty. The guilty plea should be invalidated, and the judgment against Tucker overturned.

III. TUCKER'S PLEA IS NOT COVERED BY SENATE FILE 589

On July 1, 2019, Senate File 589 went into effect, amending Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) to eliminate the right to appeal from a guilty plea unless the defendant had entered "a guilty plea for a class 'A' felony" or "the defendant establishes good cause." Iowa Code § 814.7 was similarly amended to provide that "[a]n ineffective

assistance of counsel claim in a criminal case shall be determined by filing an application for postconviction relief pursuant to chapter 822 the claim shall not be decided on direct appeal from the criminal proceedings." Tucker pled guilty and was sentenced on November 20, 2019. For the reasons that follow, the Court should invalidate the amendments made by Senate File 589.

A. Senate File 589 Improperly Restricts the Role and Jurisdiction of Iowa's Appellate Courts relating to Guilty Pleas.

The change to § 814.6 improperly interferes with the separation of powers between the legislature and the judicial branch, with this Court's jurisdiction, and with this Court's role in addressing constitutional violations. "The separation-of-powers doctrine is violated if one branch of government purports to use powers that are clearly forbidden or attempts to use powers granted by the constitution to another branch." Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Corr. Srvs., 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002) (quoting State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)). The doctrine means that one "branch of government may not impair another in the performance of its constitutional duties." Id.

Art. V, § 4 of the Iowa Constitution provides the jurisdiction of the Iowa Supreme Court:

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