IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-2082

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

TYJAUN LEVELL TUCKER, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE LAWRENCE P. MCLELLAN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONE Polk County Attorney

AMANDA JOHNSON Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. This Appeal Should Be Dismissed. The 2019 Amendments to Sections 814.6 and 814.7 Are Constitutional.¹

Motion to Dismiss

This appeal should be dismissed because the Court lacks authority to decide the claims presented for two independent reasons. First, there is no right to direct appeal of a guilty plea for judgments entered after July 1, 2019. And second, this Court lacks authority to

¹ The State arranges the issues in a different order than the defendant because the application of amendments to Iowa Code sections 814.6 and 814.7 dispose of this appeal.

Division I of this brief is a motion to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction and addresses the unpreserved constitutional arguments presented in Division III of the defendant's brief.

decide ineffective-assistance claims related to judgments decided after that same date.

Judgment was entered here on November 20, 2019, and notice of appeal was filed on December 11, 2019. *See* 11/20/2019 Judgment; App. 9–14; 12/11/2019 Notice of Appeal; App. 15. The provisions of sections 814.6 and 814.7 amended by Senate File 589 apply to this appeal. *See State v. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d 447, 464 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 227 (Iowa 2019).

There is no right to appeal a guilty plea. The defendant did not file an application or petition seeking good-cause review.

The General Assembly has removed this Court's power to decide the direct appeal of any guilty plea, other than a Class A felony, absent a showing of good cause. Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (2020). This is an appeal of a guilty plea and thus the defendant must show good cause. He has not done so here. The defendant's allegation that the plea was involuntary cannot be reached because it was not preserved. *See* Division II. His allegation that counsel was ineffective cannot be decided on direct appeal. *See* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020). And his constitutional challenges were not preserved. *See* Division I, Error-Preservation Section. Whatever definition "good cause" may involve, it does not permit an appeal when none of the briefed issues can be decided.

If this Court believes it must give a definition of "good cause" in this case, the only interpretation of "good cause" supported by the structure of Senate File 589 is that "good cause" reaches only issues that cannot be resolved by other tribunals.

The legislation amending section 814.6 specifically provides that direct appellate review is only available if a criminal defendant who pleads guilty "establishes good cause" or seeks discretionary review of a denied motion in arrest of judgment. See SF589, §§ 28-29 (88th Gen. Assem.). The bill shifts all ineffective-assistance claims, including those related to a guilty plea, from direct appeal to postconviction litigation. See SF589, § 31 (88th Gen. Assem.). The bill also limits relief for guilty-plea defects to only those defects that caused the defendant plead guilty rather than stand trial. See SF589, § 33 (88th Gen. Assemb., codified at new Code section 814.29). Finally, existing law permits litigation of illegal-sentence challenges in the district court "at any time" and in the appellate courts by certiorari. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a); State v. Propps, 897 N.W.2d 91, 97 (Iowa 2017).

This legislative scheme is incompatible with the defendant's suggestion that "good cause" embraces a wide range of claims, including the unpreserved challenges he asserts here. See Defendant's Proof Br. at 13–14. To hold as the defendant suggests would undermine the intent of the legislation, which was to reduce congestion in the appellate courts and encourage efficient use of appellate resources by limiting the Court's direct-appeal review of guilty pleas. It would also render the addition of the new discretionary-review ground for motions in arrest a nullity, as such a ground would be unnecessary if "good cause" was a broad standard. And it would be inconsistent with the new standard for plea defects, as the General Assembly would not have prohibited relief for immaterial defects while simultaneously encouraging the appeal of the same immaterial errors. See Iowa Code § 814.29 (2020).

The State maintains here, as it has in other cases, that considering statements by legislators during floor debate is generally inappropriate and unhelpful in deciding disputes over legislative intent. After all, the statement of an individual legislator is just that the statement of an individual legislator. Nonetheless, the State recognizes that this Court has recently looked to the recorded videos

of floor debates when attempting to determine legislative intent and the defendant cites such authority in his brief. *See State v. Ortiz*, 905 N.W.2d 174, 180 (Iowa 2017); *State v. Doe*, 903 N.W.2d 347, 354 (Iowa 2017); Defendant's Proof Br. at 30 & n.6. If this Court looks to floor debates here, this strengthens the State's argument and undercuts the defendant's claim that "good cause" embraces a wide range of issues, including his unpreserved claims.

The floor manager of Senate File 589 was Senator Dan Dawson of Pottawattamie County. According to Senator Dawson's floor remarks, "good cause" means "extraordinary circumstances where the system has failed the defendant, for example where there was a complete failure of the defense counsel, [or the] court interfered with the plea process or improperly induced a plea of actual innocence." Senate Floor Debate, SF589 (Amendment S-3212), April 25, 2019, 3:25:30–3:26:00 P.M.² Senator Dawson further explained that this provision, in tandem with other changes related to guilty-plea appeals in SF589, "limits frivolous appeals, saves the state resources, and also resolves cases at the district court level...." *Id*. During floor debate on

² Available at <u>https://www.legis.iowa.gov/</u> <u>dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20190425031315902&dt</u> <u>=2019-04-25&offset=702&bill=SF%20589&status=r</u>.

a previous version of the bill, Senator Dawson also referred to the Legislature's intent to reduce the "bloated appeals system … in the Iowa courts" and "knock down on the excessive caseload … in the appeals courts." Senate Floor Debate, SF589, April 1, 2019, 5:43:10– 5:43:55 P.M.; *see also id.* at 5:47:45–5:48:15 (criticizing the Court's 2013 revision of Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1005, which has—in practice—halted the dismissal of frivolous appeals).³

If the Court considers these remarks, they demonstrate the General Assembly's intent to define "good cause" narrowly rather than broadly—"good cause" means "extraordinary circumstances," not routine non-frivolous challenges. Under such a standard, or the more refined one put forward by the State above (a claim that cannot be raised before another tribunal), the defendant cannot demonstrate good cause and the appeal must be dismissed.

The legislative text also contemplates that the defendant should have sought permission from this Court to seek review of his guilty plea, rather than filing a notice of appeal and hoping the Court grants him relief. Section 814.6 only permits appellate review of a non-

³ Available at <u>https://www.legis.iowa.gov/</u> <u>dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20190401125340169&dt=</u> <u>2019-04-01&offset=14871&bill=SF%20589&status=i</u>.

Class-A guilty plea when "the defendant establishes good cause." Iowa Code §814.6(1)(a)(3). This language makes "establish[ing] good cause" a predicate to appellate review. A notice of appeal cannot achieve this. The defendant should instead have been required to file a petition or application with this Court, to be resolved through motion practice after an opportunity for the State to resist. Following motion practice, the Court could then either grant or deny appellate review based on whether the defendant had "establishe[d] good cause," similar to the Court's current practice of granting or denying applications for discretionary review or petitions for certiorari.

Requiring the defendant to affirmatively plead "good cause" in motion practice furthers the legislative purpose behind Senate File 589's provisions related to appeals: to conserve resources by limiting unnecessary appeals and having more cases resolved by the district, rather than appellate, courts. Resolving most guilty-plea cases at the application stage will obviate the need for both parties' counsel to file unnecessary merits briefs and will allow the Court to better deploy its resources screening out unnecessary appeals before the merits stage and transfer. In contrast, allowing defendants to obtain review by means of a notice of appeal and deciding good cause at the merits-

briefing stage would gut the efficiency and resource-conservation that Senate File 589 strives for.

The Court lacks authority to decide ineffectiveassistance claims on direct appeal.

Regardless of whether the defendant can establish good cause, however, this appeal must be dismissed for a second reason: the only claims presented are assertions of ineffective assistance. The defendant explicitly concedes that he did not preserve error for Division I of his brief. Defendant's Proof Br. at 12. He ignores the rule requiring "[a] statement addressing how the issue was preserved for appellate review, with references to the places in the record where the issue was raised and decided," for Divisions II and III, likely because he did not preserve those claims in any fashion. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1); Defendant's Proof Br. at 17, 21. The only way these unpreserved claims can be raised is through an allegation of ineffective assistance, and the General Assembly has removed this Court's authority to decide ineffective-assistance claims on direct appeal. See Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020) ("...the claim shall not be decided on direct appeal from the criminal proceedings"). As a result, even if the defendant could show "good cause," the appeal must be

dismissed because the Court lacks authority to reach the issues presented.

Preservation of Error

The motion to dismiss, raised by the State above, is an appellate motion that could not be raised below.

The defendant's constitutional challenges, raised in Division III of his brief and addressed in Division I here, were not preserved. They cannot be heard in this appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999).

To the extent the defendant may assert in reply that these issues relate to appellate practice, this does not obviate the need to preserve error. While the State could not move to dismiss this (then nonexistent) appeal in the district court, the defendant had the opportunity to preserve a challenge to the constitutionality of the amendments to sections 814.6 and 814.7 and his failure to do so bars relief. *E.g., Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d at 325.

Standard of Review

Had the defendant actually preserved the challenges he makes now, he would face an uphill climb due to the standard of review. All "statutes are cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality." *State*

v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2002). To invalidate a statute, the "challenger bears a heavy burden" and "must prove the unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id*.

Merits

As relates to the foregoing motion to dismiss, the defendant raises three constitutional challenges to the relevant statutory amendments. First, he claims the amendment to section 814.6 is contrary to the separation of powers. Defendant's Proof Br. at 22-27. This claim fails under the plain text of the Iowa Constitution and existing precedent interpreting the same. Second, he claims the same amendment violates Equal Protection and urges strict scrutiny. Defendant's Proof Br at 27–31. This claim fails because, among other reasons, "people who plead guilty to crimes" are not a suspect class and the distinction drawn by the General Assembly was rational. Third, the defendant makes a vague constitutional challenge to the amendment to section 814.7. Defendant's Proof Br. at 31-34. This claim is little more than the defendant's disagreement with the Legislature on a policy matter and it provides no basis for relief. This Court should reject all of the defendant's claims, if it decides to reach them despite the obvious failure to preserve error.

A. Section 814.6(1)(a), regulating guilty-plea appeals, does not offend separation of powers.

The Iowa Constitution establishes the Supreme Court as a tribunal for the correction of errors at law, "under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4. Consistent with the text of the Iowa Constitution, the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that appellate jurisdiction in Iowa is "statutory and not constitutional." *State v. Hinners*, 471 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 1991).

To that end, "when the Legislature prescribes the method for the exercise of the right of appeal or supervision, such method is exclusive, and neither court nor judge may modify these rules without express statutory authority, and then only to the extent specified." *Home Sav. & Tr. Co. v. Dist. Court of Polk Cty.*, 95 N.W. 522, 524 (Iowa 1903). In other words, "the power is clearly given to the General Assembly to restrict this appellate jurisdiction." Lampson v. Platt, 1 Iowa 556, 560 (1855) (comma omitted).4

Being "purely statutory," the grant of "appellate review is ... subject to strict construction." *Iowa Dep't of Revenue v. Iowa Merit Employment Comm'n*, 243 N.W.2d 610, 614 (Iowa 1976). Absent a statute authorizing an appeal, this Court cannot acquire jurisdiction by means of appeal. *See Crowe v. De Soto Consol. Sch. Dist.*, 66 N.W.2d 859, 860 (Iowa 1954) ("It is our duty to reject an appeal not authorized by statute."). Such authorizing statutes can be modified, and the authority to hear a particular class of appellate cases "may be granted or denied by the legislature as it determines." *James v. State*, 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991). Under Iowa's constitutional structure, the role of the judiciary is to decide controversies, but the

⁴ *Lampson* involved interpretation of a materially identical predecessor provision in the 1846 Constitution. The only difference between the 1846 and 1857 provisions is that commas were added to set off "by law," as follows: "shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law, under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." Iowa Const. Art. V, § 3 (1846). These commas did not change the meaning of the provision. In any event, section 814.6 is obviously a restriction made "by law."

And if there was any lingering question about a potential change in meaning over time, it is relevant that the Court's territorial analogue also had its jurisdiction "limited by law." *See United States ex rel James Davenport & Pet. for Mandamus to Cty. Commissioners of Dubuque Cty.*, Bradf. 5, 11 (Iowa Terr. 1840), 1840 WL 4020. Such restrictions are part of Iowa's constitutional history.

General Assembly is the arbiter of which "avenue of appellate review is deemed appropriate" for a particular class of cases. *See Shortridge v. State*, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991), *superseded by statute on other grounds*.

These holdings show that the legislative branch in Iowa possesses nearly unbounded authority to regulate the taking of appeals at law. *See, e.g. James*, 479 N.W.2d at 290; *State v. Olsen*, 162 N.W. 781, 782 (Iowa 1917); *State v. Johnson*, 2 Iowa 549, 549 (1856). Because the source of the Supreme Court's authority to decide criminal appeals is through acts of the General Assembly, not the Constitution, it necessarily follows that legislation in this area is consistent with, rather than repugnant to, the separation of powers.

To the extent the foregoing does not dispose of the question, a trip through Iowa's history confirms the propriety of the amendment to section 814.6. For more than two centuries, the General Assembly has been active in this area, repeatedly adding to or subtracting from the Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction:

> • From 1838 into the early years of statehood, the Territorial Legislature and General Assembly authorized the Supreme Court to hear writs of error for non-capital criminal defendants "as a matter of course" (essentially authorizing appeals), whereas the Court only had authority to hear writs in capital cases upon "allowance"

of a Judge of the Supreme Court (akin to modern discretionary review). *See* Iowa Code § 3088, 3090–91 (1851); Iowa Code ch. 47, §§ 76–77 (Terr. 1843); Iowa Code ch. Courts, §§ 76–77, p. 124 (Terr. 1839).

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